

Implementing and Evaluating Diabetes Self-Management Education and Support (DSMES) Programs for Underserved Populations/Communities

A Practice-Based Guide

April 2019



Acronyms

A1c	Glycated Hemoglobin Test (Blood Suga	r)

- AADE American Association of Diabetes Educators
- ADA American Diabetes Association
- BMI Body Mass Index
- CDC Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
- CDE Certified Diabetes Educator
- DDT Division of Diabetes Translation

DSMES	Diabetes Self-Management	
	Education and Support	

- EA Evaluability Assessment
- EMR Electronic Medical Record
- FQHC Federally Qualified Health Center
- HEDIS Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set
- SME Subject Matter Expert

Contents

1.	Overview	4
	Why was this guide developed?	5
	Who is this guide for?	6
	What is in this guide?	6
	How should this guide be used?	7
2.	Conceptual Framework for Implementation and Evaluation of DSMES Programs	8
3.	Planning and Implementing DSMES Programs for Underserved Populations/Communities	11
	Step 1: Assess community context	12
	Step 2: Identify organizational resources and resource gaps	14
	Step 3: Determine essential team and intervention characteristics	17
	Step 4: Develop and execute an implementation plan	22
4.	Evaluating DSMES Programs for Underserved Populations/Communities	26
	Step 5: Develop and execute an evaluation plan	27
5.	Tips for Sustaining Programs	30
6.	Guide Evaluation	32
Ap	pendix A: Taking a Closer Look at the Public Health Challenge	34
Ар	pendix B: Guide Development	36
Ack	knowledgments	39
Ref	erences	41

Exhibits

Exhibit 1. Conceptual Framework for Implementation and Evaluation of DSMES Programs	9
Exhibit 2. Context Assessment: Example Questions to Consider	13
Exhibit 3. Insights on Engaging Providers	21
Exhibit 4. Logic Model Components	24
Exhibit 5. Practical Implementation Tips for Providing DSMES to Underserved	
Populations/Communities	25
Exhibit 6. Example Evaluation Questions, Indicators and Data Sources	28
Exhibit 7. Factors that Affect Sustainability of DSMES Programs	31
Exhibit 8. Evaluability Assessment Process	37

1. Overview

This is a "how to" guide for implementing and evaluating American Diabetes Association (ADA)-recognized/American Association of Diabetes Educators (AADE)-accredited diabetes self-management education and support (DSMES) programs designed to reach underserved populations/communities. The information in this guide aligns with the 2017 National Standards for DSMES.¹ This guide is also designed to complement the <u>Centers for Disease Control and</u> <u>Prevention's (CDC's) DSMES Toolkit</u>, which provides general resources and tools for developing, promoting, implementing, and sustaining DSMES services.



Diabetes Data and Statistics

See Appendix A for additional data on diabetes prevalence, disparities, and DSMES participation rates.

Why was this guide developed?

Diabetes is the seventh leading cause of death in the United States,² and the disease disproportionately affects racial and ethnic minorities and adults with low socioeconomic status.^{3,4} DSMES programs can help people manage their type 2 diabetes and prevent complications,⁵ but participation in DSMES programs remains suboptimal.⁶ CDC's Division of Diabetes Translation (DDT) worked with contractors and subject matter experts (SMEs) to evaluate two DSMES programs reaching underserved populations/communities: Tandem Health (formerly Sumter Family Health Center) and BronxCare Health System. This guide was developed to share evaluation lessons learned and expert insights with DSMES programs working to better reach underserved populations/communities. See Appendix B for more information on how this guide was developed.

Who is this guide for?

This guide is for organizations that would like practical guidance on planning, implementing, enhancing, and evaluating DSMES programs designed to reach underserved populations/ communities. In this guide, the term "underserved populations" is used to refer to groups of people who systematically experience barriers to health and includes racial and ethnic minorities, people with low socioeconomic status, and people living in rural areas.^{7,8} Guidance is based on findings from rapid evaluations⁹ of two AADE-accredited DSMES programs that are being implemented in federally qualified health centers (FQHCs) and primarily serve African American and Hispanic/Latino participants. Although this guide may be most useful for FQHCs that primarily serve African American and Hispanic/Latino patients, tips and tools can be adapted for DSMES programs implemented in other settings and DSMES programs serving other population groups that experience diabetes-related disparities.

What is in this guide?

This guide includes practice-based evidence and insights from two FQHC DSMES programs reaching underserved populations/communities and from CDC and nonfederal SMEs. This guide consists of six main sections:

- **1 Overview.** Section 1 briefly describes the purpose of this guide, including why it was developed and how it can be used.
- 2 Conceptual Framework for Implementation and Evaluation of DSMES Programs. Section 2 describes a framework, or key steps, for building or adapting DSMES programs to reach underserved populations/communities.
- **3** Planning and Implementing DSMES Programs for Underserved Populations/Communities. Section 3 shows how to apply the framework described in Section 2 to plan and implement DSMES programs for underserved populations/communities. This section includes specific guidance and tools for
 - assessing community context,
 - identifying organizational resources and resource gaps,
 - building a team and intervention that address the unique needs of underserved populations, and
 - developing and executing an implementation plan.

- 4 Evaluating DSMES Programs for Underserved Populations/Communities. Section 4 provides tips and tools for evaluating DSMES programs for underserved populations/communities. This section focuses on developing an evaluation plan and monitoring program participation, completion, and key diabetes management outcomes.
- **5 Tips for Sustaining Programs.** Section 5 presents tips for sustaining DSMES programs. This section also highlights potential sustainability challenges that may be encountered during program implementation.
- **6 Guide Evaluation.** We welcome feedback on this guide. Section 6 contains instructions for sharing feedback that will help DDT improve the content and usability of future DSMES resources.

The appendices following these six main sections contain more detail on the public health burden of diabetes (Appendix A) and guide development (Appendix B). Acknowledgments, including a list of SMEs, are at the end of the guide.

How should this guide be used?

Adopt guidance and tools when practical. This guide is not prescriptive. Users can decide which guidance and tools to use on the basis of available resources and relevance to their organizations and communities.

Adapt guidance as needed. Tools and templates should be adapted to fit users' unique community and organizational context. This includes adapting guidance to fit the culture of intended program participants. Tools and templates include example entries, but ultimately, programs will need to adapt guidance in the manner that best fits their context, setting, available resources, and priority populations.

Be flexible. Program planning, implementation, and evaluation are iterative processes. This guide is a practical roadmap, but detours are inevitable. Detours are also important for ensuring a program is appropriately tailored to meet the needs of program participants and that the program is improving key diabetes management outcomes. Being flexible allows DSMES programs to make mid-course corrections and apply lessons learned to continuously improve the program.

Use with CDC's DSMES Toolkit. The DSMES Toolkit is designed to

- communicate the evidence supporting DSMES, including the clinical and economic benefits;
- clarify the process for establishing a DSMES service that meets minimum standards and is eligible for reimbursement;
- provide resources and tools to facilitate becoming a recognized or accredited DSMES provider;
- describe common barriers to DSMES use and referral; and
- provide tips for overcoming these barriers.

This guide complements <u>CDC's DSMES Toolkit</u> by providing practice-based guidance for tailoring DSMES programs that meet national standards so they are responsive to the needs of underserved populations/communities.



2. ConceptualFramework forImplementation andEvaluation of DSMESPrograms

This guide draws from evaluations of two FQHC-based DSMES programs primarily serving racial and ethnic minority participants and from SME input. We adapted implementation science and evaluation frameworks to gather practice-based evidence for this guide.

See Appendix B for more information on how this guide was developed.

Exhibit 1 is an "action-oriented" framework, or series of connected steps, intended to help guide future efforts to implement and evaluate DSMES programs that reach underserved populations/communities.



Exhibit 1. Framework for Implementing and Evaluating DSMES Programs Designed to Reach Underserved Populations/Communities

National DSMES Standards

This guide aligns with the 2017 National Standards for DSMES, which "define timely, evidence-based, quality DSMES services." This guide provides practical information and real-world examples for delivering DSMES programs that meet these national standards and are responsive to the needs of underserved populations/communities. See CDC's DSMES Toolkit for more information on the National Standards for DSMES.

Framework Steps at a Glance

Step 1: Assess community context

Contextual factors that may affect programs include the following:

- External policies, regulations, or incentives (e.g., incentives for meeting national quality programs' or health plans' quality of care benchmarks)
- Community characteristics (e.g., demographics, social climate, economic conditions)
- · Limited number of provider referrals
- Location of the program (e.g., located within the community, accessible by public transportation)
- Barriers to DSMES participation, such as financial, medical, linguistic, and sociocultural factors

Step 2: Identify organizational resources and resource gaps

Resources required to implement and evaluate programs include the following:

- Funds, staff, materials, partnerships, and leadership support necessary to implement DSMES programs and tailor programs to participants' culture
- Data systems and protocols to manage referrals, monitor program implementation, and track outcomes

Step 3: Determine essential team and intervention characteristics

Team and intervention characteristics to consider include the following:

- Complexity (e.g., number and type of visits required for completion)
- Cultural adaptations (e.g., tailored dietary recommendations)
- Cultural competence (e.g., skills that are helpful for reaching and relating to underserved populations/communities, such as motivational interviewing)

Step 4: Develop and execute an implementation plan

The implementation plan includes a program description and should specify the following:

- Tailored outreach, recruitment, and delivery strategies (e.g., use of visual aids for participants with low educational attainment or low health literacy, interpreters for participants with limited English proficiency)
- Referral protocols
- Participation targets (i.e., the number of people with diabetes in the clinic, workplace, or community that DSMES programs intend to reach)

Step 5: Develop and execute an evaluation plan

The evaluation plan should outline data collection and reporting protocols for internal monitoring and ADA recognition/AADE accreditation. Example outcome indicators to monitor include the following:

- Proportion of eligible staff/partners who make program referrals
- Proportion of eligible adults who enroll in the DSMES program
- Proportion of participants who complete the program
- Changes in participants' knowledge of and skills
 related to diabetes management
- Healthy behaviors
- Clinical outcomes (e.g., A1c and body mass index)

3. Planning andImplementing DSMESPrograms for UnderservedPopulations/Communities

The National Standards for DSMES should drive program planning and implementation. Resources for planning and implementing a DSMES program that meets national standards are available in <u>CDC's DSMES Toolkit</u>. This chapter complements the DSMES toolkit with additional steps to deliver services that are responsive to the needs of underserved populations/communities. The steps described in the following sections are not prescriptive, and programs should adapt steps in the manner that best fits their context, the culture of priority populations, and available resources. 12 Planning and Implementing DSMES Programs for Underserved Populations/Communities



Step 1: Assess Community Context

Callouts and links to relevant DSMES toolkit chapters, including descriptions of National Standards for DSMES, are included throughout the guide.

Contextual factors can support DSMES program implementation or hinder it. When planning or refining a DSMES program designed to reach underserved populations/communities, it is important to consider community context, participants' culture and common participant needs, and the health policy context. This will help programs prepare for potential pitfalls and leverage external resources. **Exhibit 2** lists example questions and data sources for assessing contextual factors that may affect DSMES programs. Staying attuned to context and culture will help programs form the right DSMES team and tailor services to best meet program participants' needs.

Standard 3 Evaluation of Population Served



Exhibit 2. Context Assessment: Example Questions to Consider

Community Context

"... we have very, very poor... transportation. Our bus service services the city only, doesn't serve any of outside of our city." –FQHC program administrator

What to Consider

How could community factors affect the DSMES program? Consider:

- Geographic location
- Political and social climate
- Economic conditions
- Relevant local organizations and institutions
- Past efforts at addressing the issue
- Community buy-in

Where to Get Information

- U.S. Census Quick Facts Data
- Health Resources and Services
 Administration Uniform Data
 System reports
- Hospital or health department community health needs assessment
- Community partners

Participant Needs

"They're often dealing with comorbidities. There are these cost barriers, insurance barriers and... you're trying to help them."

–FQHC clinical staff

What to Consider

What needs are commonly reported among the participants or intended participants? How might these needs affect the DSMES program? Consider:

- Financial and transportation needs
- Language- and literacy-related needs
- Need for responsiveness to cultural practices and preferences
- Support needs related to immigration status
- Family dynamics and living situation
- Medical needs related to managing comorbidities
- Access to local stores
- Access to safe places to exercise

Where to Get Information

- Patient and Family Advisory Council, or similar group of selected patients, family members, and other caregivers convened to give input and feedback on quality of care
- Patient survey
- Electronic medical records
- DSMES staff, including clinical and support team members

Health Policy

"... our Healthfirst Quality Incentive Program. For the first time, these guys are requiring not just that you check the hemoglobin A1c... and check an eye exam, but they're throwing in controlling diabetes. It's a HEDIS [Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set] measure. So, we're incentivized not to just provide this care for the diabetes I mentioned, but also to control the diabetes."

-FQHC program administrator

What to Consider

How might external policies, regulations, mandates, or recommendations affect the DSMES program? Does the external health policy context affect population groups differently? Consider:

- State or national programs that give incentives for meeting quality benchmarks
- Value-based payment systems
- Medicaid coverage and expansion
- Reimbursement policies

Where to Get Information

- Billing and quality improvement staff
- Health care insurers your organization bills to
- State Medicaid office

14 Planning and Implementing DSMES Programs for Underserved Populations/Communities



Examples from the Field: FQHC Resources for DSMES

- Data analyst who can help DSMES staff run reports on DSMES outcome data
- Community health workers and translators who are available to provide support across clinic programs, including DSMES
- Pharmacy that participates in the Health Resources and Services Administration Office of Pharmacy Affairs 340B Program, which provides medication at significantly reduced prices
- FQHC pharmacy resources for printing medication labels in multiple languages for patients with limited English proficiency

Step 2: Identify Organizational Resources and Resource Gaps

Key resources required to implement DSMES programs include staff, educational materials, data systems, partnerships, and funding. Your organization should identify the resources available to implement or enhance the DSMES program, tailor program services and materials to participants' culture and socioeconomic status, maintain the program, and evaluate outcomes. While inventorying resources, it may be helpful to consider the key contextual factors identified in step 1. Special resources may be needed to overcome contextual factors that could limit the reach of your DSMES program. **Tool 1** is a worksheet DSMES programs can use to inventory resources, identify resource gaps, and determine a strategy for addressing resource gaps. **Tool 1** highlights examples of resources used by real-world DSMES programs reaching underserved populations/communities. These examples come from our rapid evaluations of two FQHC-based AADE-accredited programs.

Tool 1 Resources Inventory Worksheet

Types of Resources	Examples of Available Resources	Examples of Resource Gaps	Examples of Strategies to Address Gaps
Key Staff	Certified diabetes educators with continuing education units that meet national standards, program director, data manager, community health workers	Lack of bilingual diabetes educators	Engage staff outside the program who can translate and interpret
Educational Materials	Curriculum, visual and tactile learning aids	Lack of culturally appropriate cookbooks and diabetes management guides	Request resources from local or state health department, diabetes organiza- tions, or pharmaceutical companies
Data Systems	Electronic medical records, Diabetes Education Accreditation Program Annual Status Reports	Data staff have limited availability to support DSMES reporting	Save report commands so they can be re-run efficiently

Tool 1 Resources Inventory Worksheet (continued)

Types of Resources	Examples of Available Resources	Examples of Resource Gaps	Examples of Strategies to Address Gaps
Partnerships	340B pharmacies, local health department or community center, local farmers market, drug or medical device companies	Lack of community-based social service agencies	See if state health department, local ADA, or other diabetes organizations have complementary programs/services
Funding	Start-up grant from state health department	Limited reimbursement	Invest in workforce development to maximize reimbursement rates (e.g., registered dieticians may be able to bill more as CDEs)
Other	AADE accreditation/ADA recognition, membership fees, continuing education	Limited resources for obtaining accredita- tion/recognition	Make the business case for DSMES



Data System Resources

- Assess the electronic medical record (EMR) system to see whether it will work for collecting and analyzing key DSMES outcome data. If needed, work with a quality improvement champion to ensure the EMR supports DSMES evaluation. Consider user-friendly options for entering and retrieving data.
- Build in protocols for gathering participant feedback on the program (e.g., patient satisfaction surveys).
- Establish protocols and systems for tracking cost data for the DSMES program (e.g., internal systems to track staff time dedicated to the program).

Reimbursement

• All DSMES programs should be working toward ADA recognition or AADE accreditation because those programs have set standards that will position programs to reimburse for services.

Planning and Implementing DSMES Programs for Underserved Populations/Communities | 17



Standard 5 DSMES Team

Step 3: Determine Essential Team and Intervention Characteristics

DSMES Team

The National Standards for DSMES set minimum requirements for DSMES team qualifications. For example, the national standards require that at least one of the team members responsible for facilitating DSMES services is a registered nurse, registered dietitian/nutritionist, pharmacist with training and experience pertinent to DSMES, or another health care professional holding certification as a diabetes educator or board certification in advanced diabetes management. According to findings from the rapid evaluations of two AADE-accredited DSMES programs that are being implemented in FQHCs, it is also important for diabetes educators to have compassion and empathy for participants as well as "cross-cultural ease." Staff from the two DSMES programs also report that adult education and counseling skills have been useful in connecting with underserved populations.



DSMES Team

- If possible, staff the program with providers who are representative of the populations being served.
- Staff should appreciate the importance of empowering patients to take control of their own health.

"Cross-cultural ease. ... I don't know how you get that, other than being exposed to people of different cultures, and dealing with your own issues. You know, I just think measurably what that means is those populations don't find you to have many barriers. It's sort of immeasurable, frankly... there's maybe access to you as a human being that comes because you have that empathetic capacity or the lack of judgment. You're not requiring them to come to you, you're going to them."

-FQHC diabetes educator

Intervention

Depending on available resources and participant needs, DSMES programs may consist of individual sessions with the diabetes educator, shared medical visits, group education sessions, follow-up support group meetings, or combinations of these. The National Standards for DSMES include requirements for curriculum, individualized services, and ongoing support to participants. As DSMES programs are being designed to meet the national standards, it is important to consider what tailoring strategies may be needed to help reach underserved populations/communities. Examples of tailoring strategies used at Tandem Health and BronxCare to reach African American and Hispanic/ Latino participants in underserved communities are provided in Tool 2. These examples are an illustrative, but not exhaustive, list of tailoring strategies. Tool 2 is a worksheet that can be used alongside the national standards to plan DSMES services that are responsive to participants' needs, culture, and community context. The context assessment completed under step 1 and resource inventory completed under step 2 are helpful for selecting tailoring strategies that are the best fit for DSMES programs' context, resources, and participants.

Curriculum <u>Standard 7</u> Individualization <u>Standard 8</u> Ongoing Support

Standard 6

Tool 2 Intervention Tailoring Worksheet

Example Barriers to DSMES Participation (build on your context assessment)	Example Tailoring Strategies	
Financial Needs	Tailor DSMES services and exam- ples to the socioeconomic status of participants—teach partici- pants about affordable healthy food options. Provide education on options for obtaining lower-cost diabetes medications, meters, and testing strips such as using the clinic	
	Work with community partners to offer free support services, including cooking classes.	
Language- and Literacy-Related Needs	Use plain language, visuals, and models to help participants grasp DSMES content (e.g., show the amount of sugar in one soda). Work with bilingual educators or translators for non-En- glish-speaking participants and offer education materials in participants' preferred language.	

Tool 2 Intervention Tailoring Worksheet (conditued)

Example Barriers to DSMES Participation (build on your context assessment)	Example Tailoring Strategies
Sociocultural-Related Needs	Engage families in DSMES and frame the program as beneficial to participants' health and families. Share culturally relevant strategies for dietary changes (e.g., avoid recommendations to eliminate foods that are central to a participant's culture; share tools that are tailored to participant's culture; share tools that are tailored to participant's culture; such as the National Diabetes Education Program's Choosing Healthy. Foods at the Buffet Table: Traps for African Americans. with Diabetes. With

Increasing Referrals and Overcoming Barriers to Participation



Engaging Providers

As you are designing your program model, plan ahead to create a referral process that supports maximum participation in the DSMES program. Also, consider whether providers need training to support the program as planned. Lessons from the field and expert insights on engaging providers are in **Exhibit 3**. CDC's DSMES Toolkit also includes a chapter on increasing DSMES referrals.

Exhibit 3. Tips for Engaging Providers



FQHCs

Tips for Engaging Providers

- Involve DSMES program administrators in provider and clinical team meetings.
- · Communicate clinical improvements to providers.
- An automated EMR referral feature based on high A1cs may help further boost physician referrals to DSMES.
- Provider education about the DSMES program can occur on an ad hoc basis and more formally during daily huddles, during weekly ambulatory care meetings (cross-disciplinary), during monthly diabetes meetings, and through electronic health record secure messaging.
- Certified diabetes educators (CDEs) can educate providers to help overcome the perception that certain patients are well-controlled and don't need to see the CDE.

SMEs

Tips for Engaging Providers

- If provider referrals are required, invest in protocols that make it easy for providers to refer people to the DSMES program.
- Frame the benefits of DSMES to providers in terms that are relevant to them (e.g., handing education duties off to a CDE so providers can focus more on the clinical aspects of care).

22 Planning and Implementing DSMES Programs for Underserved Populations/Communities



Step 4: Develop and Execute an Implementation Plan

Building on previous planning steps, create a plan to guide DSMES program implementation. The plan does not have to be lengthy or complex, but it should capture key stakeholders and program components. The plan will be useful for

- keeping key stakeholders on the same page about program protocols and services,
- describing the program to organizational leadership and potential new partners,
- · applying for funding opportunities, and
- orienting new staff to the program.

Tool 3 is a checklist that can be used alongside the national standards to draft a program implementation plan. The checklist is designed to help programs create an implementation plan that is responsive to community context and participants' needs and culture. The tool builds on previous steps and can be adapted as needed. This section of the guide also includes tips on developing a program description in a logic model format, as well as general implementation tips from real-world programs reaching underserved populations and SMEs.



Tool 3 Implementation Plan Checklist

Document Context	Document the contextual factors that may affect program success and strategies for addressing challenging factors (Table 1. Context Assessment).	
List Key Stakeholders	List individuals or groups who are essential for program implementation and document their roles. For example, primary care providers are stakeholders responsible for referring patients to the program. Remember individuals or groups who will help your program address the needs of underserved participants. For example, the local health department could offer free cooking or exercise classes to participants. Individuals who assist with data collection, analysis, and synthesis are also important stakeholders to involve in program planning and implementation.	
Describe the Program	 Briefly describe program resources, activities, and intended outcomes. A logic model is a useful tool for describing a program. Whether using a logic model or crafting a narrative description, the following details should be captured: Plans for promoting the program (among potential participants and providers). Approach to recruiting participants. Education and support services the program will offer. If applicable, specify the core components of the program completion versus those that are optional for participants. For example, a program may include physician referral, initial visits, and follow-up certified diabetes educator (CDE) visits within a 6-month period as core components, plus outpatient or inpatient group edu- 	Marketing and Promotion
	cation classes as supplemental services.	

Logic Models

A logic model is a graphic that depicts key components of a program and how those key components are intended to relate to one another. It's a useful tool for describing DSMES programs and focusing program monitoring and evaluation. **Exhibit 4** shows the basic components of the logic model and includes example DSMES program components. Visit the CDC Program Performance and Evaluation Office website for additional logic model resources.



Exhibit 4. Logic Model Components

Practical Implementation Tips

Exhibit 5 lists practical considerations to keep in mind while planning and implementing DSMES programs for underserved populations/communities.

Exhibit 5. Practical Implementation Tips for Providing DSMES to Underserved Populations/Communities

FQHCs' Tips

- Explain "why" when providing DSMES information to help engage and empower patients (i.e., don't "talk at" them).
- Keep materials simple, then adapt verbal messaging as appropriate for the audience.
- Keep perspective when working with underserved populations/communities and be mindful of where your messaging may fall within the hierarchy of their needs.
- Share personal perspectives and experiences, if relevant, to increase receptivity.
- Frame encounters to respect the patient.
- Frame messaging in terms of what patients can do to avoid overwhelming them.
- Facilitate provider referrals through, for example, provider training or automated referral options in the EMR system—strong provider referrals are important for patients to follow through with their DSMES appointment.
- Understand patient needs and how to address them in a culturally sensitive manner.
- Have a process for obtaining patient feedback.

SMEs' Tips

- Be aware of your own culture and biases and consider how your cultural preferences and views may differ from the cultural preferences and views of DSMES participants. Acknowledge differences but avoid stereotyping.¹⁰
- Be willing to listen and learn from DSMES participants to better understand how cultural beliefs and practices may affect health behaviors. Pay attention to nonverbal cues and ask about how you can provide DSMES in a culturally appropriate manner.¹⁰
- If possible, take the program to the communities, rather than asking people to come to the health care setting. Taking DSMES to the communities puts the programs in a place that is already considered a safe space.
- Use the language preferred by the program participant, which may require working with interpreters.¹⁰ Expand literacy- and language-related supports to include health literacy supports.
- Think outside the box for ways to engage and celebrate the populations you are trying to reach (e.g., create a forum for DSMES graduates to share success).
- Follow up with people who drop out or do not join the program to gain insights for enhancing recruitment and retention efforts.



4. Evaluating DSMES Programs for Underserved Populations/Communities

The national standards set requirements for monitoring DSMES participants' progress and conducting evaluation for program improvement. AADE-accredited programs are required to submit an Annual Status Report on participants' progress, and the report is a useful source of evaluation data.

This section of the guide focuses on developing and executing an evaluation plan that accounts for programs' efforts to reach and improve outcomes among underserved populations/communities. It includes example evaluation questions, indicators and data sources, and a checklist that lists the basic elements of an evaluation plan (**Tool 4**). The evaluation plan checklist builds on previous steps in the guide and can be adapted to programs' unique needs and context.



Program Reach

In addition to tracking the number of program participants, consider assessing the proportion of eligible adults who are participating in the program (reach = number of participants ÷ number of eligible participants). If possible, explore the proportion of eligible adults who are participating your program by race, ethnicity, and income to see whether the program is reaching underserved populations/ communities as intended.

Step 5: Develop and Execute an Evaluation Plan

The program description developed under step 4 is a starting point for evaluation planning because it depicts the plan for implementing the program and achieving key DSMES outcomes. In general, evaluating DSMES programs involves assessing the degree to which the program was implemented as planned and intended outcomes were achieved. **Exhibit 6** includes example evaluation questions, indicators, and data sources. These examples are based on our rapid evaluation of two FQHC-based DSMES programs reaching underserved populations/communities, and examples can be adapted to fit programs' unique context and resources. See the CDC Program Performance and Evaluation website for additional guidance indicators.





Exhibit 6. Example Evaluation Questions, Indicators, and Data Sources

Implementation		
Evaluation Question	Indicator	Data Source
Are providers referring people with diabetes to the program as expected?	Proportion of eligible patients who are referred to DSMES by a provider Referral rates by provider	EMRs
Is the program reaching eligible adults from underserved populations/communities as planned (compare the program's actual reach to the target reach)?	Proportion of referred patients who participate (i.e., complete at least one required class/visit) in the program by race, ethnicity, sex, age, and/or risk status	DSMES program records
What proportion of participants are completing core components of the program? How does completion vary by population group (e.g., Latino women vs. Latino men)?	Proportion of participants who are complet- records ing the program by race, ethnicity, sex, age, and/or risk status	DSMES program
What proportion of participants are receiving support services from partners (e.g., transportation assistance)?	Proportion of DSMES participants who obtain support services from community partners among those who received a re- ferral for support services by race, ethnicity, sex, age, and/or risk status	EMRs and community partner records

Outcomes

Evaluation Question	Indicator	Data Source
Are program participants receiving recommend- ed diabetes-related tests and exams? How do outcomes vary by population group (e.g., race, ethnicity, sex, age, risk status)?	Proportion of DSMES participants who are receiving recommended exams by race, ethnicity, sex, age, and/or risk status	DSMES program records
Are there improvements in clinical outcomes, such as A1c, among program participants? How do outcomes vary by population group (e.g., race, ethnicity, sex, age, risk status)?	Average change in clinical outcomes among records DSMES participants by race, ethnicity, sage, and/or risk status	DSMES program sex,

Share and Use Data to Improve the Program

Share evaluation data and results with key stakeholders. Sharing program achievements may help increase or sustain support for the program. It's also important to engage program staff, participants, and other key stakeholders in problem-solving any program challenges that the data reveal. For example, if data show low participation among a priority population group, program administrators may want to meet with diabetes educators or follow up with patients to explore participation barriers and identify strategies to address them.

-

Tool 4 Evaluation Plan Checklist

A. Describe the Evaluation Approach

Develop Evaluation Questions	Work with key stakeholders to prioritize evaluation questions related to program implementation and outcomes.
	Identify indicators for program implementation and outcomes (i.e., what will be measured to answer the evaluation questions?) Implementation indicators may include targets for the number of participants and
Identify Indicators	 population groups the program will reach. The number of providers who are engaged in the program or the number of participants who receive support services from pro- gram partners can also be tracked. Outcome indicators will focus on participants' knowledge or attitudes related to dia- betes management, behavior changes, and clinical measures. Programs should keep AADE accreditation/ADA recognition requirements for reporting behavioral and clinical outcomes in mind when establishing indicators of success.
Specify Data Collection and Analysis Protocols	Document how the program will obtain data to track progress on each indicator of success. This includes describing the data source, how often data will be reviewed, and how data will be analyzed (e.g., calculating the average change in A1c from start of the program to completion and comparing outcomes across different population groups).

B. Summarize Plan for Sharing Results and Making Program Improvements

Identify Target	Think about who needs to hear about the program's outcomes—participants, providers,
Audiences and	partners, national organizations (e.g., ADA and AADE)—and determine how and when to
Establish a	share program data with these key stakeholders. If sharing program results with partici-
Communication	pants, use plain language and participants' preferred languages. Be sure to also plan for
Strategy	AADE accreditation/ADA recognition reporting requirements.
Program Review	Document how often program staff will review data and use it to strengthen the program.

5. Tips for Sustaining Programs

Planning for sustainability early on in program development and implementation is important for ensuring the longevity of DSMES programs. The following questions can help programs plan for sustainability:

- What factors support sustainability of our DSMES program?
- What factors will challenge sustainability of our DSMES program?
- What strategies can we use to overcome potential challenges to sustainability?

Exhibit 7 lists some real-world examples of sustainability facilitators and challenges from our rapid evaluation of two FQHCs.

Exhibit 7. Practical Implementation Tips for Providing DSMES to Underserved Populations/Communities

Example Factors That Support Sustainability

Value to guality incentive programs and value-based payment models

"And the Medicaid managed care plan, Healthfirst, which is our main insurance company [uses a value-based model], but all of the insurance companies are moving to a value-based model where we take risk. I always explain to the administration, and they know this, that having the clinical diabetes educators controlling the diabetes, it's not just billing them for the visit ... but we get a couple million dollars if we do well on this ... for Healthfirst."

–FQHC program administrator

Positive participant outcomes

"But right now, they haven't kicked us out the door yet. And I think it's because of what we do for the patients. And it's a commitment. Plus, people who have better A1Cs tend to keep their follow-up appointments. It would be nice if everybody would see the return on investment by improving people's health."

–FQHC program administrator

Having the program within a FQHC setting

"I don't know seriously how a non-embedded program financially and patient-wise could survive because just having them coming within a familiar setting is hard.

But if you ask them to go to an unfamiliar setting it's going to be

another barrier."

–FQHC program administrator

Example Factors That Challenge Sustainability

Cost of DSMES and limited reimbursement

"It can be costly with the staff and the clinic ... the utilization ... especially since we have a high Medicaid population and a high uninsured population, not seeing that return unfortunately in the long run could be detrimental to the program." -FQHC biller

Barriers to care participants face

"Right now, I don't know that we have enough [resources to sustain], because we identified transportation, financial barriers, and I don't know that we have enough to satisfy those barriers yet." -FOHC clinical staff



Sustainability

- It is crucial to understand the quality incentive programs and value-based payment models, which likely requires engagement of senior-level management.
- Conduct a cost-benefit assessment of the program to show that DSMES is worth the investment. Check out the CDC Office of the Associate Director for Policy website for economic evaluation tools and training materials.

Reimbursement and Sustainability

6. Guide Evaluation

This guide was developed for organizations that need practical tips on planning, implementing, enhancing, and/or evaluating DSMES programs for underserved populations/communities. We would appreciate feedback on the guide's usefulness.



Please send feedback to

Kimberly D. Farris, PhD, MPH, MSW Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Division of Diabetes Translation 4770 Buford Hwy NE, MS-F75 Atlanta, GA 30341-3717 <u>KFarris2@cdc.gov</u>

We would like to know:

- Is the guide user-friendly?
- In what ways has your organization used the guide to develop or refine an implementation and evaluation plan for your DSMES program?
- Does the guide present the guiding implementation and evaluation framework in a way that is understandable? If no, please explain.
- How practical are the guide's tips for implementing and evaluating a DSMES program designed to reach underserved populations/ communities?
- Is there any additional information that should have been included in the guide?

We thank you in advance for your feedback and recommendations for improvement.

Appendix A

Taking a Closer Look at the Public Health Challenge



Overall Burden

- 30.3 million people have diabetes (9.4% of the U.S. population).
- 23.1 million people are diagnosed with diabetes.
- 7.2 million people are undiagnosed (23.8% of people with diabetes are undiagnosed).
- More than 90% of people with diagnosed diabetes have type 2 diabetes.¹¹

Cost Burden

- \$245 billion: estimated cost of diabetes in 2013.^{12,13}
- \$13,700: average medical expenditures per year for people with diagnosed diabetes.¹⁴ About \$7,900 of this amount was attributed to diabetes.
- Average medical expenditures among people with diagnosed diabetes were about 2.3 times higher than expenditures for people without diabetes (after adjusting for age group and sex).

Racial and Ethnic Disparities

- Prevalence of diagnosed diabetes14,15
 - 15.1%: American Indian/Alaska Native
 - 12.7%: non-Hispanic black
 - 12.1%: Hispanic ethnicity
 - 8.0%: Asian
 - 7.4%: non-Hispanic white
 - 12.6%: adults with less than a high school education
 - 9.5%: adults with a high school education
 - 7.2%: adults with more than a high school education

- Complications¹⁶
 - Ethnic and racial minorities are more likely to develop retinopathy than non-Hispanic whites.
 - Ethnic and racial minorities have higher prevalence rates of end-stage renal disease.
 - The age-adjusted prevalence rate of obesity for U.S. adults in 2009–2010 was 35.7%.
 - Non-Hispanic black adults had the highest prevalence rate of age-adjusted obesity, at 49.5%. Mexican-American adults had rates of 40.4%, and non-Hispanic white adults had rates of 34.3%.
 - Studies demonstrate that racial and ethnic minorities with type 2 diabetes have worse glycemic control. Non-Hispanic black and Hispanic Americans have A1c values that are 0.6% and 0.5% higher than non-Hispanic whites.
 - Minorities are more likely to suffer from depression. Depression is a well-recognized comorbidity of type 2 diabetes. Diabetic patients with depression have poorer adherence to self-management behaviors than those without depression.

Diabetes Self-Management Education and Support (DSMES) Program Participation

- Fewer than 60% of adults aged 18 years or older with diabetes have ever attended a DSMES class.¹⁷
- 6.8% of individuals with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes with private health insurance participated in DSMES within 12 months of diagnosis.¹⁸
- 4% of Medicare participants received DSMES and/or medical nutrition therapy.¹⁹

Appendix B Guide Development

The evaluation work behind this guide included systematic screening and assessment (SSA), a rapid evaluation, and engagement of subject matter experts (SMEs).

SSA

As a first step, an SSA, a type of evaluability assessment, was conducted to identify and screen innovations to determine readiness for full evaluation. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and a contractor, NORC at the University of Chicago, conducted the SSA to identify diabetes self-management education and support (DSMES) programs that are implementing promising and effective strategies to manage diabetes among African American and Latino populations. The SSA nomination process required that programs

- were American Association of Diabetes Educators (AADE)–accredited or American Diabetes Association (ADA)–recognized;
- had been operating for at least 1 year;
- were serving participants at the time of the assessment;
- had a participant population that was at least 50% African American, Latino, or both; and
- had not previously been evaluated and were not undergoing evaluation.

Based on the SSA, the Tandem Health and BronxCare DSMES programs were selected for rapid evaluation (**Exhibit 8**).



Exhibit 8. Evaluability Assessment Process



Rapid Evaluation Process

The rapid implementation and outcome evaluations were designed to build on the SSA by gathering data on

- factors that support and challenge implementation of the Tandem Health and BronxCare DSMES programs;
- Tandem Health and BronxCare's strategies for recruiting, enrolling, and retaining African American, Hispanic/Latino, and African immigrant participants in DSMES programs; and
- key DSMES outcomes for these program participants.

The rapid evaluation approach aligned with the CDC Framework for Program Evaluation in Public Health, which is a utilization-focused framework that is helpful for organizing the overall evaluation.²⁰ We also applied principles of culturally responsive evaluation and adapted the Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research ^{21,22} to focus the evaluation design and inform the development of data collection tools.

Our qualitative methods included a review of the evaluability assessment and relevant program documents and site visits. A five-member team (three RTI International members and two Division of Diabetes Translation [DDT] members) conducted the 2-day site visit to the Tandem Health DSMES program on March 21 and 22, 2018. A six-member team (three RTI members and three DDT members) conducted the 3-day site visit to the BronxCare DSMES program from March 26 through 28, 2018. During the site visits, we interviewed key program staff—including program administrators and community health workers—and key health department partners. We also conducted focus groups with diabetes educators and observed a Tandem Health DSMES session. Quantitative methods included analysis of deidentified secondary data on program participants' use of DSMES services and clinical outcomes related to DSMES. We also collected and analyzed data on costs related to program start-up and maintenance.

SME Review

We worked with DDT to identify diabetes and health disparities experts who could assist us with interpreting evaluation findings through a lens of context and culture. We convened four nonfederal and three federal SMEs for a full-day meeting at the RTI Atlanta office on June 26, 2018. During the meeting, SMEs gave feedback on evaluation methods, suggested key content for the guidance materials that will be based on this evaluation work, and offered thoughtful considerations on evaluation results and limitations.

Acknowledgments

We would like to extend special thanks to the DSMES programs, SMEs, DDT evaluators and advisors, and the RTI evaluation team for their contributions to this guide.

Acknowledgments

DSMES Programs

Mary M. Byrd, RN, and colleagues Medical Case Management, Tandem Health

Diana L. Malkin-Washeim, PhD, MPH, RDN, CDE, CD-N, and colleagues Director-Nutrition and Diabetes Program, BronxCare Health System

SMEs

Yarneccia D. Dyson, PhD Assistant Professor, University of North Carolina Greensboro

Lisa Graham, RN, BSN, CDE President of Renew and Live, LLC, and Founder of Diabetes "You Can Win" Foundation, Inc.

Derek Griffith, PhD Associate Professor of Medicine, Health, and Society, Vanderbilt University

Glenda Knight, PhD, MPH, CHES Executive Director of Cutting Edge Health Options, Inc., Co-Chair Diabetes Community Action Coalition, Inc. (DCAC), adjunct faculty member at Morehouse School of Medicine

Kristine Day, MPH Public Health Advisor; Division of Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Obesity; National Center of Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion; CDC

Bernadette Ford Lattimore, MPH Public Health Educator; Division of Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Obesity; National Center of Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion; CDC

DDT Evaluators, SMEs, and Advisors

Bryce Smith, PhD, MSSW Translation, Health Education and Evaluation Branch Chief

Kimberly Farris, PhD, MPH, MSW Technical Lead, Health Scientist

Gia E. Rutledge, MPH Lead Health Scientist

Timethia Bonner, DPM, PhD Oak Ridge Institute for Science and Education (ORISE) Fellow

Ross Brown, MPH ORISE Fellow

Rachel Blacher, MPH Program Officer

Kai Stewart, PhD, MPH Health Scientist

Bina Jayapaul-Philip, PhD Senior Service Fellow

Yvonne Mensa-Wilmot, PhD, MPH Health Scientist

Amy Bell, BS Contracting Officer's Representative, Management and Program Analyst

Maria Ayala-Perales, MS Public Health Advisor

RTI Evaluation Team

LaShawn Glasgow, DrPH Project Director

Cindy Soloe, MPH Associate Project Director

Katie Cullen, MEd Project Manager

Laura Arena, MPH Qualitative Task Lead

Kyle Emery, PSM Qualitative Task Analyst

Mihaela Johnson, PhD Quantitative Task Lead

Deborah Porterfield, MD, MPH Scientific Advisor

Jim Emshoff, PhD (Emstar Research) Expert Panel Facilitator and Reviewer

References

- ¹ Beck, J., Greenwood, D. A., Blanton, L., Bollinger, S. T., Butcher, M. K., Condon, J. E., ... & Kolb, L. E. (2018). 2017 national standards for diabetes self-management education and support. *The Diabetes Educator*, *44*(1), 35–50.
- ² CDC. (2017a, June). About diabetes. Retrieved from <u>https://</u> www.cdc.gov/diabetes/basics/diabetes.html
- ³ Beckles, G. L., & Chou, C. F. (2016). Disparities in the prevalence of diagnosed diabetes – United States, 1999–2002 and 2011–2014. *MMWR Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 65*(45), 1265–1269. doi:10.15585/mmwr. mm6545a4
- ⁴ CDC. (2018). Addressing health disparities in diabetes. Last updated September 25, 2018. Retrieved from <u>https://</u> <u>www.cdc.gov/diabetes/disparities.html</u>
- ⁵ Powers, M. A., Bardsley, J., Cypress, M., Duker, P., Funnell, M. M., Fischl, A. H., ... Vivian, E. (2015). Diabetes self-management education and support in type 2 diabetes: A joint position statement of the American Diabetes Association, the American Association of Diabetes Educators, and the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics. *Diabetes Care*, 38(7), 1372–1382. doi:10.2337/dc15-0730
- ⁶ CDC (2014, October). Age-adjusted percentage of adults aged 18 years or older with diagnosed diabetes ever attending a diabetes self-management class, United States, 2000– 2010. Retrieved from <u>https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/</u> statistics/preventive/fy_class.htm
- ⁷ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (n.d.). *Elimination of health disparities*. Retrieved February 18, 2019, from <u>https://www.surgeongeneral.gov/priorities/</u> prevention/strategy/health-disparities.pdf
- ⁸ National Institutes of Health, National Library of Medicine. (n.d.). Underserved health communities. Retrieved February 18, 2019, from <u>https://nnlm.gov/gmr/guides/</u><u>underserved-health-communities</u>
- ⁹ McNall, M., & Foster-Fishman, P.G. (2007). Methods of rapid evaluation, assessment and appraisal. *American Journal* of Evaluation, 28, 158–161.
- ¹⁰ Wazwaz, N. (2015, July 6). It's official: The U.S. is becoming a minority-majority nation. U.S. News & World Report. Colby, S. L., & Ortman, J. M. (2015, March). Projections of the size and composition of the U.S. population: 2014 to 2060. Current Population Reports, P25-1143. Washing-ton, DC: U.S. Census Bureau.

- ¹¹ CDC, 2017a.
- ¹² CDC. (2017b). National Diabetes Statistics Report, 2017. Retrieved from <u>https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/pdfs/</u> <u>data/statistics/national-diabetes-statistics-report.pdf</u>
- ¹³ Powers et al., 2015.
- ¹⁴ CDC, 2017b.
- ¹⁵ CDC, 2018.
- ¹⁶ Spanakis, E. K., & Hill Golden, S. (2013). Race/ethnic difference in diabetes and diabetic complications. *Current Diabetes Reports*, *13*(6). doi: 10.1007%2Fs11892-013-0421-9.
- ¹⁷ CDC, 2014.
- ¹⁸ Li, R., Shrestha, S. S., Lipman, R., Burrows, N. R., Kolb, L. E., & Rutledge, S. (2014). Diabetes self-management education and training among privately insured persons with newly diagnosed diabetes—United States, 2011-2012. MMWR Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 63, 1045–1049
- ¹⁹ Duncan, I., Birkmeyer, C., Coughlin, S., Li, Q., Sherr, D., & Boren, S. (2009). Assessing the value of diabetes education. *The Diabetes Educator*, *35*, 752–760
- ²⁰ CDC. (1999). Framework for program evaluation in public health. *MMWR Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 48(RR-11), i–41.
- ²¹ Damschroder, L. J., Aron, D. C., Keith, R. E., Kirsh, S. R., Alexander, J. A., & Lowery, J. C. (2009). Fostering implementation of health services research findings into practice: a consolidated framework for advancing implementation science. *Implementation Science*, 4(1), 50. doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-4-50
- ²² Rojas Smith, L., Ashok, M., Morss Dy, S., Wines, R. C., & Teixeira-Poit, S. (2014). Contextual frameworks for research on the implementation of complex system interventions. *Methods Research Reports* (Report No. 14-EHC014-EF). Retrieved from <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/ NBK196199/</u>